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injected into the engine to compensate for excess air or excess fuel. Standard oxygen sensors are 

"switching" sensors which essentially detect two states: rich or lean. The standard oxygen 

sensor element is a ceramic thimble plated inside and out with electrodes. These electrodes 

measure the difference in oxygen between the exhaust gas and the external air and then generate 

an output voltage depending on the difference between the two measured values. 

12. Air fuel ratio sensors are "wideband" oxygen sensors located before the catalytic 

converter. An air fuel ratio sensor is paired with a special interface circuit so it can produce an 

electric current corresponding to the actual proportion of exhaust gas oxygen concentration 

enabling more precise control of the air/fuel ratio injected into the engine. This "wideband" 

sensor incorporates an electrochemical gas pump. An electronic circuit containing a feedback 

loop controls the gas pump current so that the pump current directly indicates the oxygen content 

of the exhaust gas. 

13. When purchasing Automotive Parts, Automobile Manufacturers typically issue 

Requests for Quotation ("RFQs") to automotive parts suppliers. These RFQs may be issued on a 

model-by-model basis for model-specific parts or for a specific engine to be incorporated into 

multiple models. Manufacturers of Automotive Parts submit quotations, or bids, to Automobile 

Manufacturers in response to RFQs. Typically, the bidding process for a particular model or a 

particular engine begins approximately three years prior to the start of production. Automobile 

Manufacturers procure parts for U.S.-manufactured vehicles in the United States and elsewhere. 

Conspiracy to Restrain Trade 

14. Beginning at least as early as January 2000, and continuing until on or about July 

2011, the exact dates being unknown to the Grand Jury, in the Eastern District of Michigan and 

elsewhere, NGK Spark Plug and other co-conspirators entered into and engaged in a combination 
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and conspiracy to suppress and eliminate competition in the automotive parts industry by 

agreeing to allocate the supply of, rig bids for, and fix , stabilize, and maintain the prices of, 

Automotive Parts sold to Automobile Manufacturers in the United States and elsewhere. 

Defendants TERANISHI and NAKANISHI participated in this conspiracy from at least as early 

as 2000, and continuing until on or about July 2011. The combination and conspiracy engaged 

in by the Defendants and other co-conspirators was an unreasonable restraint of interstate and 

foreign trade and commerce in violation of the Sherman Antitrust Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. This 

combination and conspiracy involved interstate trade and commerce and import trade and 

commerce. 

15. The charged combination and conspiracy consisted of a continuing agreement, 

understanding, and concert of action among the Defendants and other co-conspirators, the 

substantial terms of which were to allocate the supply of, rig bids for, and fix, stabilize, and 

maintain the prices of, Automotive Parts sold to Automobile Manufacturers in the United States 

and elsewhere. 

Manner and Means of the Conspiracy 

16. For purposes of forming and carrying out the charged combination and 

conspiracy, the Defendants and other co-conspirators did those things that they combined and 

conspired to do, including, among other things: 

a. participating in, and directing, authorizing, or consenting to the 

participation of subordinate employees in, meetings, conversations, and communications 

in Germany and Japan to discuss the bids and price quotations to be submitted to 

Automobile Manufacturers in the United States and elsewhere; 
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b. agreeing, and directing, authorizing, or consenting to subordinate 

employees agreeing, during those meetings, conversations, and communications, on bids 

and price quotations to be submitted to Automobile Manufacturers in the United States 

and elsewhere; 

c. agreeing, and directing, authorizing, or consenting to subordinate 

employees agreeing, during those meetings, conversations, and communications, to 

allocate the supply of Automotive Parts sold to Automobile Manufacturers in the United 

States and elsewhere; 

d. approving collusive and noncompetitive prices agreed upon by 

subordinates during those meetings, conversations, and communications in Japan and 

Germany; 

e. submitting bids, price quotations, and price adjustments to Automobile 

Manufacturers in the United States and elsewhere in accordance with the agreements 

reached; 

f. selling Automotive Parts to Automobile Manufacturers in the United 

States and elsewhere at collusive and noncompetitive prices; 

g. accepting payment for Automotive Parts sold to Automobile 

Manufacturers in the United States and elsewhere at collusive and noncompetitive prices; 

and 

h. engaging in meetings, conversations, and communications in Japan and 

Germany for the purpose of monitoring and enforcing adherence to the agreed-upon bid-

rigging and price-fixing scheme. 
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Trade and Commerce 

17. During the period covered by this Indictment, the Defendants and other co-

conspirators sold substantial quantities of Automotive Parts to Automotive Manufacturers in the 

United States and elsewhere. Automotive Parts were manufactured in the United States and 

shipped within the United States from other states, and manufactured outside the United States 

and shipped to the United States, all in a continuous and uninterrupted flow of interstate and 

import trade and commerce. In addition, substantial quantities of equipment and supplies 

necessary to the production and distribution of Automotive Parts by NGK Spark Plug, and its co-

conspirators, as we11 as payments for Automotive Parts sold by NGK Spark Plug, and its co-

conspirators, traveled in interstate and import trade and commerce. The business activities of the 

Defendants and other co-conspirators in connection with the production and sale of Automotive 

Parts that were the subject of the charged conspiracy were within the flow of, and substantially 

affected, interstate and import trade and commerce. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

18. The combination and conspiracy charged in this Indictment was carried out, at 

least in part, in the Eastern District of Michigan and continued within the five years preceding 

the filing of this Indictment. 

ALL IN VIOLATION OF TITLE 15, UNITED STATES CODE, SECTION l. 

A TRUE BILL. 

s/Grand Jury Foreperson Dated: May 21, 2015 
Grand Jury Foreperson 
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s/Brent C. Snyder 
Brent C. Snyder 
Deputy Assistant Attorney General 
Antitrust Division 
United States Department of Justice 

s/Marvin N. Price 
Marvin N. Price, Jr. 
Director of Criminal Enforcement 
Antitrust Division 
United States Department of Justice 

s/Lisa M. Phelan 
Lisa M. Phelan 
Chief, Washington Criminal I Section 
Antitrust Division 
United States Department of Justice 

s/Diana Kane 
Diana Kane 
Eric M. Meiring 
Lauren Elfner 
Washington Criminal I Section 
Antitrust Division 
United States Department of Justice 
450 5th St. NW, Suite 11300 
Washington, DC 20530 
(202) 598-2426 
Diana.Kane2@usdoj.gov 
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